OA 4-6-84

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

REPUBLICAN PARTY OF FLORIDA, EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, REPUBLICAN PARTY OF FLORIDA, TOM SLADE, individually, and TOM SLADE, Chairman, Republican State Executive Committee of Florida, SID J. WHITE

MAR 21 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By

Chief Deputy Clerk

Plaintiffs, Appellants,

v.

CASE NO. 83,249

JIM SMITH, Secretary of State, State of Florida, TOM GALLAGHER, Insurance Commissioner/ Treasurer, State of Florida, GERALD LEWIS, Comptroller, State of Florida and DOROTHY W. JOYCE, Director, Division of Elections,

Defendants, Appellees,

and

BILL JONES, a taxpayer in the State of Florida and Executive Director of Common Cause/Florida,

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about August 25, 1993, Appellants filed a Complaint in the Circuit Court of Second Judicial Circuit in and for Leon County, Florida. Appellants' Complaint sought declaratory and supplemental relief, specifically requesting that the Circuit Court declare that Section 106.32(1) is not a lawful appropriation; that it declare Section 106.32(1) as unconstitutional and in violation of Article II, Section 3, and Article III, Section 1, of the Florida Constitution; and that it enjoin Appellees from enforcing or using Section 106.32(1) as a financing source for the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund ("Trust Fund"). (R. 1-7)¹ Appellees filed an Answer. (R. 8-12)

On November 24, 1993, Appellants filed their Motion For Summary Judgment and Memorandum of Law In Support of the Motion For Summary Judgment. (R. 206-10, 211-31) On November 24, 1993, the parties filed a Joint Stipulation regarding the partial legislative history of Section 106.32(1), Florida Statutes. (R. 14-205) On December 21, 1993, Appellees filed a Response to Appellants' Motion For Summary Judgment, along with a Cross-Motion For Summary Judgment. (R. 232-62) The Motion/Memorandum filed by Appellees contained two exhibits, one a transcript of April 30, 1991, Conference Committee Report regarding the statutes in question, and the other an affidavit from Jana Walling, describing Ms. Walling's

¹Citations to the documents in the Record on Appeal shall be by (R.) followed by a page reference and exhibit number, where appropriate. The Plaintiffs, Republican Party of Florida, et al., shall be referred to as Appellants and Defendants, Jim Smith, et al., shall be referred to as Appellees.

understanding of how the Act would finance the Trust Fund. On January 14, 1994, Appellants filed a Reply to Appellees' Response to its Motion For Summary Judgment and to Appellees Cross-Motion For Summary Judgment. (R. 288-306)

Bill Jones, a taxpayer in the State of Florida and Executive Director of Common Cause/Florida, requested and, over Appellants' objection, was permitted to intervene supporting Appellees. (R. 263-66, 284-87) Jones filed a Response to Appellants' Motion. (R. 267-283)

On January 24, 1994, the cross motions for summary judgment were heard before the Honorable F. E. Steinmeyer, III, in Leon County, Florida. After hearing arguments of all counsel, Judge Steinmeyer granted the summary judgment of Appellees, and denied the summary judgment of Appellants. Judge Steinmeyer rendered the Final Judgment on February 1, 1994. (R. 307-09) Judge Steinmeyer concluded there was "no genuine issue as to any material fact" and that the case was "ripe" for decision and further concluded:

- 3. The use or meaning of the word "transferred" in § 106.32(1), Fla. Stat., is ambiguous.
- 4. That the Legislature intended to provide funds to the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund in an amount sufficient to fund qualifying candidates pursuant to the provisions of §§ 106.30-106.36, Fla. Stat.
- 5. That §§ 106.32(1) and 106.35, Fla. Stat., constitute the consent of the public to expend public funds and consequently constitute a valid appropriation made by law.
- 6. That the use of a formula in an appropriation rather than the use of a

specific dollar amount or a specific funding source is a valid appropriation.

7. Sections 106.32 and 106.35, Fla. Stat., comply with the itemization requirement of Art. III, § 19(b), Fla. Const.

Appellants timely filed their notice of appeal. (R. 310-14) Because this case involves the constitutionality of a statute purporting to finance public campaigns, and because potential gubernatorial candidates may be requesting funds under this statute in the near future, the parties requested the First District Court of Appeal to certify the case to this Court as a matter of great public importance. The First District Court of Appeal did so. This Court accepted jurisdiction.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 1991, the Florida Legislature adopted amendments to substantive Florida election law. Ch. 91-107, Laws of Fla. (HB No. 2251) ("the Act"). (R. 15, Exh. 3) One of the amendments specifically relates to the public financing of campaigns.

106.32 Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund

- (1) There is hereby established in the State Treasury an Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund to be utilized by the Department of State as provided in ss. 106.30 106.36. If necessary, each year in which a general election is to be held for the election of the Governor and Cabinet, additional funds shall be transferred to the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund from general revenue in an amount sufficient to fund qualifying candidates pursuant to the provisions of ss. 106.30 106.36.
- (2) Proceeds from filing fees pursuant to ss. 99.092, 99.093, and 105.031 shall be deposited into the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund as designated in those sections.

(3) Proceeds from assessments pursuant to ss. 106.04, 106.07, and 106.29 shall be deposited into the election campaign financing trust fund as designated in those sections.

Ch. 91-107, § 19, at 892, Laws of Fla. (emphasis added).

Sections 106.30 through 106.36, Florida Statutes, relate directly to the public financing of campaigns for statewide office. Provided candidates abide by certain conditions, see § 106.353, Fla. Stat. (1993), and they meet certain contribution thresholds, see § 106.33, Fla. Stat. (1993), those candidates are entitled to receive potentially millions of dollars from the public coffers to match private contributions. See §§ 106.34-.35, Fla. Stat. (1993). The purpose of the Florida Election Campaign Financing Act is to encourage individuals with less wealth to run for statewide office, and to make candidates less beholden to special interest groups. § 106.31, Fla. Stat. (1993).

A great deal of money may be needed to finance the Act.² To provide the necessary money to fund the Act, in 1986 the Florida Legislature created the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund ("the Trust Fund"). Ch. 86-276, § 1, at 2030-31, Laws of Fla. (R. 14, Exh. 1) It is the financing of the Trust Fund that was the

²For example, to provide matching funds for a single gubernatorial candidate who does not face primary opposition, the State would have to pay \$2,575,000 (assuming a gubernatorial candidate receives the campaign contributions allowed) in qualifying matching funds. Further, if other candidates do not abide by spending limits, the State may have to match qualifying candidates in excess of the \$5,000,000 expenditure limit. § 106.355, Fla. Stat. (1993). Of course, the precise amount which will be needed in 1994 will not be known until the money is disbursed to qualifying candidates.

subject of the lawsuit and Appellants' Motion For Summary Judgment filed below.

Prior to the 1991 amendments, the Trust Fund was to be financed by legislative appropriation. "Each year in which a general election is to be held for the election of the Governor and Cabinet, the Legislature shall appropriate to the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund from general revenue an amount sufficient to fund qualifying candidates pursuant to the provisions of this act." Ch. 86-276, § 1, at 2030-31, Laws of Fla. In 1986, the Legislature appropriated \$3 million for the Trust Fund. See Joint Stipulation (R. 15, Exh. 2 at 2) House of Representatives Committee on Ethics and Elections, Final Bill Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, HB 2251, May 14, 1991, Florida State Archives, Series 19, Carton 2304. In 1987, the Legislature removed the appropriation, returned the \$3 million to general revenue, and did not make any subsequent, specific dollar appropriations. Id. (Appellees argue that Section 106.32(1) as amended in 1991 is an appropriation.)

The 1991 Legislature changed the campaign financing scheme. The amendment process began with a draft bill in the House of Representatives Committee on Ethics and Elections. PCB EE 91-01 proposed eliminating "the requirement that the Legislature appropriate funds from general revenue to fund the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund." This Committee recommended that funds collected for fictitious name registrations be deposited in the Trust Fund rather than the Corporations Trust Fund, and the fines received pursuant to Chapter 106 would continue to be

deposited in the Trust Fund. It was estimated that "the funds generated will provide the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund with sufficient funds, over a full four-year period, to fully fund participating candidates." (R. 16, Exh. 4 at 1, 3-4) House of Representatives Committee on Elections and Ethics, Bill Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, PCB EE 91-01, February 15, 1991, Florida State Archives, Series 19, Carton 2304.

The House Committee on Ethics and Elections proposed to amend PCB EE 91-01 to provide that the first 4 million dollars of funds from the .3% service charge on specified trust funds be directed to the Trust Fund rather than the Agency Budget Sunset Trust Fund. The remainder was to be deposited in the General Revenue Fund and the Sunset Fund was to receive no further funding from the service charge. Fines received pursuant to Chapter 106 would continue to be deposited in the Trust Fund. (R. 16, Exh. 5 at 1) House of Representatives Committee on Ethics and Elections, Bill Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, March 5, 1991, Florida State Archives, Series 19, Carton 2304.

On or about March 14, 1991, the House Committee on Finance and Taxation proposed amending what was now HB 2251, by replacing the .3% service charge with a .1% sales tax on advertising, and providing that Working Capital Fund moneys would be used if the Trust Fund were to "run out of funds." On the House floor, the advertising tax proposal failed, but the Working Capital Fund provision was adopted. The resulting bill that was engrossed and sent to the Senate retained the .3% service charge, resurrected the

appropriation language (now only "if necessary"), and added the backup Working Capital Fund provision, to wit:

If necessary, each year in which a general election is to be held for the election of the Governor and Cabinet, the Legislature shall appropriate additional funds to the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund from general revenue in an amount sufficient to qualifying candidates pursuant to provisions of ss. 106.30-106.36. In the event such appropriated moneys in the trust fund are insufficient to fully fund qualifying candidates, sums sufficient to fully fund such candidates are hereby appropriated transfer to the fund from the Working Capital Fund.

(R. 16-17, Exh. 6 at 155, 206) Journal of the House of Representatives, March 14, 1991; (R. 16-17, Exh. 7) House of Representatives as further revised by the Committee on Appropriations, Bill Analysis and Economic Impact Statement, March 14, 1991, Florida State Archives, Series 19, Carton 2171; (R. 16-17, Exh. 8 at 21) HB 2251, Second Engrossed.

In April of 1991, the Senate Committee on Finance, Taxation and Claims amended HB 2251, Second Engrossed, to remove the .3% service charge provision and the Working Capital Fund backup, and resurrected the provision to proportionally distribute available funds should "appropriated" moneys be insufficient to fully fund candidates, and added sections 106.32(2) and (3). (R. 17, Exh. 9 at 25) Senate Committee on Finance, Taxation and Claims, Bill Vote Sheet, HB 2251, April 17, 1991. See also (R. 17, Exh. 10 at 823, 827) Journal of the Senate, State of Florida, April 22, 1991.

On April 22, 1991, HB 2251, as amended by the Senate Committee on Finance, Taxation and Claims, passed on the floor of the Senate and read in part:

If necessary, each year in which a general election is to be held for the election of the Governor and Cabinet, the Legislature may appropriate additional funds to the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund from general revenue in an amount sufficient to fund qualifying candidates pursuant to the provisions of ss. 106.30-106.36. In the event such appropriated moneys are insufficient to fully fund qualifying candidates, available funds shall be distributed on a proportional basis based on total available funds.

(R. 18, Exh. 10 at 827) Journal of the Senate, State of Florida, April 22, 1991. See also (R. 18, Exh. 9 at 25).

On April 30, 1991, representatives of the Senate and House of Representatives issued their Conference Committee report on HB 2251. At page three of the report, the Conference Committee made reference to section 19 and stated: "Provides for transfer from the General Revenue if funds in the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund are insufficient to fully fund candidates." (R. 18, Exh. 11) Conference Committee Report on HB 2251, April 30, 1991, Florida State Archives, Series 19, Carton 2304. The Conference Committee compromise was adopted as the final bill in both the Senate and House which provided, in part:

If necessary, each year in which a general election is to be held for the election of the Governor and Cabinet, additional funds shall be transferred to the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund from general revenue in an amount sufficient to fund qualifying candidates pursuant to the provisions of ss. 106.30-106.36.

(R. 18, Exh. 12 at 1609) Journal of the Senate, State of Florida, May 1, 1991; (R. 18, Exh. 13 at 1631) Journals of the Florida House of Representatives, April 30, 1991. Additionally, a transcript of a discussion of members of the House of Representative's is included in this record. (R. 253-54) Representative Stone states in part: "O.K., but on that we are guaranteed that if this bill stays the way it is today until the 1994 elections cycle and we have a Governor's race, we have Cabinet races and we have four million dollars in the public financing, but we need ten million or twenty million dollars then we've got to take it out of gr the way this bill's written now." Representative Goode responded: "You are correct, Rep. Stone." (R. 254)

Now, Sections 106.32(2) and (3), Florida Statutes, provide for six specific sources of revenue to be deposited directly into the Trust Fund. These are: one-third of the filing fees required by Section 99.092; one-third of the municipal candidate qualifying fees required by Section 99.093; one-third of filing fees for candidates for judicial office required by Section 105.031; an assessment on contributions to committees of continuous existence pursuant to Section 106.04(4)(b)2.; an assessment on contributions to candidates pursuant to Section 106.07(3)(b); and an assessment on contributions to political parties pursuant to Section 106.29(1)(b). This Court struck the assessments provided for by subsections 106.04(4)(b)2., 106.07(3)(b), and 106.29(1)(b) as unconstitutional because they abridged free speech and freedom of association rights. State v. Republican Party of Florida, 604

So. 2d 477 (Fla. 1992). Accordingly, the only direct financing of the Trust Fund comes from filing fees pursuant to Sections 99.092, 99.093, and 105.031, Florida Statutes (1993).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The crucial issue for this Court to decide is whether the 1991 Legislature lawfully appropriated 1994 general revenue dollars to be expended and disbursed to qualifying candidates during the general election to be held in the fall of 1994. The Legislature can, and in the past has, appropriate money from the General Revenue Fund in order to partially fund the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund. In 1986, the Legislature appropriated three million dollars, but, in 1987 returned the money to the General Revenue Fund. In like manner, the 1994 Legislature could appropriate money to assist qualifying candidates. The issue is not whether it can lawfully appropriate money. Rather, the issue is whether it could do so in 1991 with 1994 funds.

Section 106.32(1) is not an appropriation by the statutory definition. The Legislature did not specify in 1991 "the amounts authorized" to be spent in 1994, the year in which the next general election will be held. Section 106.32(1) is not based on any legislative budget or based upon legislative findings of necessity. Because Section 106.32(1) is not an appropriation and Chapter 91-107 is not an appropriations act, they cannot be utilized as authorization to transfer money into the Trust Fund in 1994. Section 106.32(1) is inconsistent with controlling provisions of Chapter 215 and 216, Florida Statutes, and is invalid. See §§

215.32(2)(b)3. and 216.351, Fla. Stat. (1993). Thus, the Comptroller may not issue any warrant because there has been no appropriation made by law.

The Legislature did not appropriate any money pursuant to Section 106.32(1). The Legislature authorized an improper "transfer" of money from general revenue to the Trust Fund, if necessary, in 1994. The Legislature was well aware of the different meanings to be ascribed to the words "appropriate" and "transfer," for both of these terms were considered by the 1991 Legislature in various forms of proposed amendments to Section 106.32(1). The legislative history evidences the Legislature's understanding of these terms and specific use of the term "transfer" as opposed to the use of the word "appropriate." Further, the statutory transfer provisions as opposed to appropriation provisions of Chapter 215 do not apply in this case. See §§ 215.18 and 215.32(2)(c)2., Fla. Stat. (1993).

Additionally, Section 106.32(1) cannot be a continuing appropriation because it is not an appropriation. A valid continuing appropriation must have a separate financing source. Moneys allocated from filing fees are a separate funding source for the Trust Fund. However, any additional money needed in 1994 will not originate from a separate source of funding. The money will come from general revenue, the general repository of state money.

Then too, the trial court's reliance on the "formula," which supposedly transforms Section 106.32(1) into a valid appropriation, is misplaced. The only "formula" alluded to is set forth in

Section 106.35 which provides that qualifying candidates are entitled to a distribution of matching contributions. This does not transform Section 106.32(1) into a valid appropriation or valid itemization pursuant to Article III, Section 19(b) of the Florida Constitution. A specific amount can only be identified at the time of distribution to the qualifying candidate. Also, notwithstanding this "formula," the Legislature must appropriate money consistent with the statutory definitions in order for there to be a lawful appropriation.

Also, in November of 1992, the people of the State of Florida approved Article III, Section 19(b) of the Florida Constitution. Effective July 1, 1994, it requires that "appropriation bills passed by the legislature shall include an itemization of specific appropriations that exceed one million dollars (\$1,000,000) in 1992 dollars." Because all or part of the money which may be needed to fund the Trust Fund will be expended and disbursed after July 1, 1994, this constitutional provision controls. Thus, any amount needed in excess of one million dollars in 1992 dollars may not be expended and disbursed on or after July 1, 1994, because there is no itemization of any specific appropriations in Section 106.32(1).

Finally, Section 215.32(2)(b)1., Florida Statutes (1993), provides in part that trust funds shall consist of moneys received by the state which under law or under trust agreement are segregated for a purpose authorized by law. However, there is no money in the General Revenue Fund segregated to be appropriated or transferred to the Trust Fund. Thus, no money may be transferred

from general revenue or the General Revenue Fund to finance the Trust Fund.

The trial court erred in concluding that Section 106.32(1), Florida Statutes is a valid appropriation.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN APPELLEES 1 GRANTING MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND CONCLUDING THAT SECTION 106.32(1) IS Α VALID APPROPRIATION

The trial court properly determined that there were no genuine issues as to any material fact and that the case was ripe for adjudication. However, the trial court erred in concluding that Section 106.32(1) is a valid appropriation. While the trial court's Final Judgment comes to this Court clothed with the presumption of correctness, the trial court's ruling is first and foremost based upon a legal interpretation as opposed to an application of law to disputed facts. Thus, this Court is free to make an independent determination of the legality of Section 106.32(1).

- A. SECTION 106.32(1) DOES NOT LAWFULLY APPROPRIATE MONEY TO THE TRUST FUND
- 1. Section 106.32(1) is not an appropriation by statutory definition.

All moneys received by the state shall be deposited in the State Treasury unless specifically provided otherwise by law and shall be deposited in and accounted for by the Treasurer and the Department of Banking and Financing within the following funds, which funds are hereby created and established:

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