MAR 81 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Chief Deputy Clerk

REPUBLICAN PARTY OF FLORIDA, EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, REPUBLICAN PARTY OF FLORIDA, TOM SLADE, individually, and TOM SLADE, Chairman, Republican State Executive Committee of Florida,

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

-vs-

CASE NO. 83,249

JIM SMITH, Secretary of State, State of Florida, TOM GALLAGHER, Insurance Commissioner/Treasurer, State of Florida, GERALD LEWIS, Comptroller, State of Florida, and DOROTHY W. JOYCE, Director, Division of Elections,

Defendants/Appellees,

and

BILL JONES, a taxpayer in the State of Florida and Executive Director of Common Cause/Florida,

Intervenor, Appellee.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellees accept Appellants' Statement of the Case.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellees accept Appellants' Statement of the Facts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellants contend that § 106.32, Fla. Stat., is not a To the contrary, § 106.32, Fla. Stat., valid appropriation. represents the decision of the Florida Legislature, the elected representatives of the citizens of Florida, to expend public funds for election reform. The election reform comes through the partial public financing of certain statewide offices designed to encourage qualified persons to seek elective office and to diminish the influence of special interests. This legislative enactment represents the consent of the public for the expenditure of public funds and fulfills the constitutional mandate that "no money shall be drawn from the treasury except in pursuance of appropriation made by law." Art. VII, § 1(c), Fla. Const.

The lower tribunal correctly found that the Legislature intended to provide funds to the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund in an amount sufficient to fund qualifying candidates pursuant to §§ 106.30-106.36, Fla. Stat. Having found such

legislative intent, the lower tribunal correctly concluded that § 106.32(1), Fla. Stat., constitutes a valid appropriation made by law.

Moreover, the Act provides a formula which provides the basis for the state comptroller to ascertain the exact amount of money required to meet the funding provisions of the Act. Where an appropriation provides a formula sufficiently definite and certain for determining the exact amount of funds required, then the appropriation meets the balanced budget and appropriation requirements of Art. VII, §§ 1(c) and (d), Fla. Const., and the itemization requirement of Art. III, § 19, Fla. Const.

Aside from the fact that the trial court's ruling is clothed with a presumption of correctness, the lower tribunal's ruling is consistent with and allows the carrying out of the the Florida Election legislatively expressed purpose that Campaign Financing Act (§§ 106.30-106.36, Fla. Stat.) (Act) encourage qualified persons to seek statewide elective office and make candidates less beholden to special interest groups or at least to dispel that (mis)perception. See § 106.31, Fla. Stat. With regard to such legislative purpose, this Court recently found that the Act serves, as intended, the compelling state interest of preserving the integrity of the election process by supporting candidates who are free from the influence of special interest money and, thus, removing corruption and the appearance of corruption from politics. State by Butterworth v. Republican Party, 604 So.2d 477, 480 (Fla. 1992).

Should Appellants be granted their requested relief, the state's compelling interest in limiting the influence of special interest groups in the election process and encouraging qualified persons to run will be frustrated. Florida will no longer have public campaign financing for statewide office, and the will of the people of Florida, as expressed by their elected representatives, will be thwarted should Appellants prevail.

ARGUMENT I

THE "FLORIDA ELECTION CAMPAIGN FINANCING ACT" (§§ 106.30-106.36, FLA. STAT.), AND PARTICULARLY §§ 106.32(1) AND 106.35, FLA. STAT., IS A VALID APPROPRIATION

Α

SECTION 106.32(1), FLA. STAT.,
CONSTITUTES THE CONSENT OF THE PUBLIC TO
EXPEND PUBLIC FUNDS GIVEN THROUGH THEIR
ELECTED REPRESENTATIVES AND IS, CONSEQUENTLY,
A CONSTITUTIONALLY VALID APPROPRIATION MADE BY LAW

The Florida Constitution provides that "no money shall be drawn from the treasury except in pursuance of appropriation made by law." Art. VII, § 1(c), Fla. Const. The purpose of Art. VII, § 1(c), Fla. Const., is to prevent the expenditure of public funds without the consent of the public given through their

The word "law," as used, means a statute adopted by both houses of the Legislature. Advisory Opinion to Governor, 22 So.2d 398, 400 (Fla. 1945). The power to appropriate state funds for a lawful state purpose is legislative and may be exercised only through a duly enacted statute. State ex rel. Davis v. Green, 116 So. 66 (Fla. 1928). Note, however, that a constitutional provision may also constitute an appropriation. See Flack v. Graham, 453 So.2d 819 (Fla. 1984); State ex rel. Williams v. Lee, 164 So. 536 (Fla. 1935).

representatives in formal legislative acts. It secures to the Legislature "the exclusive power of deciding how, when and for what purpose the public funds shall be applied in carrying on the government." State ex rel. Kurz v. Lee, 163 So. 859, 868 (Fla. 1935).

In determining whether § 106.32, Fla. Stat., is an appropriation, this Court must simply determine whether the Legislature, by passing the Act, was "deciding how, when and for what purpose public funds" are to be expended. In looking at whether § 106.32, Fla. Stat., is an appropriation, it is critical to keep in mind the purpose of the constitutional limitations regarding appropriations.

An appropriation, for Florida constitutional purposes, has been defined as the act of setting money apart formally or officially for a special use or purpose by the Legislature in clear and unequivocal terms in a duly enacted law. State ex rel.

Bonsteel v. Allen, 91 So. 104 (Fla. 1922). See also State ex rel. Kurz v. Lee, 163 So. 859, 868 (Fla. 1935). An appropriation constitutes "authority to the state treasurer to pay warrants that the comptroller may draw on the state treasury." Kurz, supra, at 872. Every appropriation by the Legislature for a state purpose "creates an authority of law in the official or department to whom or for which such appropriation is made, to incur an obligation on the state's part within the terms of the appropriation made." Kurz, supra, at 872.

No particular form of words is necessary to constitute a valid appropriation. It is not essential to the validity of an appropriation measure that the term appropriation be used. 48 Fla.Jur.2d, State of Florida § 178. State ex rel. Bonsteel v. Allen, 91 So. 104, 105-106 (Fla. 1922) (the language "such [moneys] as shall first be set aside" is an appropriation). State v. Southern Land & Timber Co., 33 So. 999, 1003 (Fla. 1903) (the language "the revenue . . . shall constitute a special fund" Thompson v. Graham, 481 So.2d 1212, 1214 is an appropriation). 1986) ("authorizing and providing funding" is simply (Fla. another way of saying "appropriating"). Appellants suggest that the use of the word "transfer" rather than "appropriate" precludes § 106.32, Fla. Stat., from being an appropriation. clearly show that the word "appropriate" cases "appropriation" need not be used to constitute an appropriation. The real issue in the case at bar is whether the Legislature intended to authorize the expenditure of public funds and not what language it used to accomplish that intent.

Consistent with these principles, the courts are impelled to look to the substance of a legislative scheme in its practical operation and effect rather than to the mere form in which it has been enacted, especially in dealing with finance and taxation measures passed by the Legislature. <u>Kurz</u>, <u>supra</u>, at 873. This principle properly elevates substance to its rightful place over form. Brown v. Firestone, 382 So.2d 654, 668 (Fla. 1980).

Appellees submit that the Act was clearly intended to appropriate funds for the partial public financing of campaigns for qualifying candidates for governor and the cabinet. conference committee report was passed by the House Representatives, the chairman of the conference committee clearly stated that the bill provided an appropriation from general He emphasized that in order to make this a productive revenue. program that candidates would opt into, it had to guarantee a source of funding to assure candidates that there would be enough money available to finance the required matching dollars. 2

(Rep. Goode) But we felt in order to make this a productive program, a viable program that candidates would opt into, we had to have a guaranteed source or there [sic] obviously not going to join into a wagon and sign on the prohibitions that we are allowed to have under that section if theres [sic] not going to be enough finances to carry them through.

(Rep. Stone) O.K., but on that we are guaranteed that if this bill stays the way it is today until the 1994 elections cycle and we have a Governor's race, we have Cabinet races and we have four million dollars in the public financing, but we need ten million or twenty million dollars then we've got to take it out of gr the way this bill's written now.

(Rep. Goode) You are exactly correct, Rep. Stone.

(Exhibit A) (R 254)

A transcript of the audio tapes of the House floor debate on HB 2251 on April 30, 1991, during the conference committee reflects the following exchange:

In <u>State v. Southern Land & Timber Co.</u>, 33 So. 999 (Fla. 1903), this Court, in upholding a tax assessment, found the following language was the equivalent to an appropriation:

There shall be annually levied and collected upon the assessable property of the state a tax of not more than half a mill, the revenue derived from which assessment and collection shall constitute a special fund to be used for public health purposes of the state.

<u>Id</u>. at 1003 (Emphasis added). This Court reasoned that the Legislature regarded that language as being, *ex propria vigore*, equivalent to an appropriation, and, consequently, it was an appropriation.³

Similarly, in State ex rel. Bonsteel v. Allen, 91 So. 104 (Fla. 1922), this Court, in approving the expenditure of public monies, held that the language "such [moneys] as shall first be set aside" was "as much an appropriation as if that word were used." Id. at 105-106.

In these cases, this Court rejected challenges to appropriations, merely because the word "appropriate" was not

Notably, the challenged legislation did not ascertain or determine the amount of money to be raised by the tax, yet the legislation was upheld. This point will be addressed fully under Argument I, B, dealing with Appellants' challenge based on the lack of a specified "amount" in § 106.32, Fla. Stat.

used, based on constitutional provisions in Florida's 1885 Constitution.

Appellees submit that the language of § 106.32, Fla. Stat., "If necessary . . . additional funds shall be transferred to the Election Campaign Financing Trust Fund from general revenue in an amount sufficient to fund qualifying candidates . . .," is ex propria vigore equivalent to an appropriation and is as much an appropriation as if that word were used.

Moreover, the definition of the words "transfer" and "appropriation" for all practical purposes mean the same thing as defined by Webster's Seventh New Collegiate Dictionary. 5 Accordingly, the failure to use the word "appropriation" in § 106.32, Fla. Stat., is not fatal as Appellants argue. 6

Those provisions, which are indistinguishable from Florida's 1968 Constitution, required a balanced budget and that no money be drawn from the treasury except in pursuance of appropriation made by law.

Webster's defines "appropriate" as "to set apart for a specific use." It defines "transfer" as "to take over the possession or control of."

The lower tribunal correctly found the use of the word "transferred" to be ambiguous in the context of § 106.32, Fla. Stat. Although Appellees would admit the word has a dictionary definition as Appellants argue (Appellants' Brief, p. 20, n.12), as do all words, it is in the context of the legislative history, the purpose of the Act and its entire context that makes the use of the term "transferred" ambiguous.

Importantly, the office of Defendant Gerald Lewis, Comptroller, who serves as the chief fiscal officer of the state (Art. IV, § 4(d), Fla. Const.), has determined that § 106.32, Fla. Stat., is a legislative appropriation. (R 255-261) (Affidavit of Jana Walling) Appropriations "involves a field in which the Comptroller is conversant and with which he is called on to deal frequently, his judgment should weigh heavily." State v. Lee, 27 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1946). Likewise, a construction of a statute or constitutional provision by a governmental department is of "great persuasive force and efficacy." Amos v. Moseley, 77 So. 619, at 626 (Fla. 1917).

Appellants argue that the Legislature "knew how to appropriate money for the particular purpose, but chose not to do so." (Initial Brief of Appellants (Appellants' Brief), p. 28) To accept Appellants' argument is to accept that the Legislature adopted the Act, defined and recognized the state's compelling interest in election reform, determined the need to provide money

The Amos Court also recognizes that the Florida Constitution allows the Florida Legislature to make continuing appropriations, irrespective of the balanced budget provisions of Art. IX, § 2, The constitutional requirement for a Fla. Const. (1885).balanced budget does not inhibit the Legislature's power to make a continuing appropriation. [now contained in Art. VII, § 1(d), Fla. Const. (1968)]. Amos, 77 So. at 626; Carlton v. Mathews, 137 So. 815, 837 (Fla. 1931). See also § 216.011(1)(g), Fla. Stat., which defines "continuing appropriation." Appellants See also § 216.011(1)(g), Fla. 216.136(3), Fla. Stat. (revenue overlook the fact that § and § 216.221, Fla. (deficit estimating conference) Stat. reductions) assure that the budget will be balanced. The requirement of a balanced budget (Art. VII, § 1(d), Fla. Const.), should not be confused with the requirement of the public's consent (Art. VII, § 1(c), Fla. Const.).

to implement the program to serve that interest and then incongruously chose not to appropriate the necessary money. Appellants' position defies reason and presumes the Legislature enacted useless legislation. It should never be presumed that the Legislature enacted useless legislation or that it undertook a meaningless act. See Sharer v. Hotel Corp. of America, 144 So.2d 813, 817 (Fla. 1962). If there was not an appropriation, the Legislature would have undertaken a useless, meaningless act.

Appellees submit that this Court must look to the legislative intent in adopting the Act (a cardinal principle of statutory construction) and must logically conclude that the Legislature intended to provide the funds necessary in "an amount sufficient to fund qualifying candidates" as stated in § 106.32, Fla. Stat. One cannot reasonably look at this language and conclude the Legislature choose to make its own legislation meaningless by not appropriating money to fund qualifying candidates.

As defined by <u>Southern Land & Timber Co.</u>, <u>Bonsteel</u>, and <u>Kurz</u>, and as intended by the Legislature and construed by the comptroller, Appellees submit that § 106.32, Fla. Stat., legislatively set money aside for a special purpose (election reform). Thus, it is an appropriation made by law which authorizes the state treasurer to pay warrants that the comptroller may draw on the state treasury. Section 106.32(1),

Fla. Stat., constitutes the consent of the public to expend public funds given through the public's elected representatives and is a valid appropriation which must be upheld by this Court.

В

THE ACT PROVIDES A BASIS FOR ASCERTAINING THE AMOUNT OF FUNDS REQUIRED AND, CONSEQUENTLY, IS SUFFICIENTLY DEFINITE AND CERTAIN TO CONSTITUTE AN APPROPRIATION

An appropriation is statutorily defined as "a legal authorization to make expenditures for specific purposes within the amounts authorized in the appropriations act." § 216.011(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (Emphasis added) Appellants rely heavily on the use of the word "amounts" in this statutory definition. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 15-19) However, Appellees submit that Appellants' reliance is misplaced.

Appellants suggest that § 106.32, Fla. Stat., does not comply with this statutory definition of appropriation and thus § 106.32, Fla. Stat., is invalid. To the contrary, one statute does not render another statute invalid.

It is the duty of the courts to adopt a construction which harmonizes and reconciles statutory provisions. All laws are presumed to be consistent, and courts must favor a construction that reconciles the statutes rather than construe one statute as being meaningless or repealed by implication. Oldham v. Rooks, 361 So.2d 140 (Fla. 1978). See generally, 49 Fla.Jur.2d,

Statutes § 180. Section 106.32, Fla. Stat., can be harmonized and reconciled with § 216.011(1)(b), Fla. Stat.

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